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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
EASTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
ex rdl. KEVIN P. McDONOUGH
Plaintiff-Relator, . CaseNo. 2:08-CV-00114
V. . JUDGE ALGENON L. MARBLEY
SYMPHONY DIAGNOSTIC SERVICES,

INC. and SYMPHONY DIAGNOSTIC :
SERVICES NO.1, d/b/a MOBILEX, U.S.A. : Magistrate Judge Mark Abel

Defendant.

OPINION AND ORDER

[. INTRODUCTION
This matter is before the Court on thetda to Dismiss Relator's Amended Complaint
for failure to state a claim upon which relief dagranted and failure to plead fraud with
particularity pursuant to Fedéfaules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), 8(a), and 9(b), brought by
Defendant Symphony Diagnostic Services, Inc., and Symphony DiagnosticeSeNo. 1, d/b/a
Mobilex U.S.A. (collectively “Mobilex” or “Defadants”). (Dkt. 40). For the reasons set forth
herein, the Defendant’'s Motion GRANTED, in part, andENIED, in part.
[I. BACKGROUND
A. Factual Background
This is aqui tamaction brought by Plaintiff-Relatdevin McDonough (“Plaintiff” or
“Relator”) pursuant to the Federalls@ Claims Act (“FCA"), 31 U.S.C. 88 32 segand
similar state law provisions. In his Amendedn@uaint, Plaintiff sets forth allegations of a

nationwide, and company-wide, Medicareutlascheme being caed out by Defendant
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Mobilex. The alleged scheme involves “gppang arrangements,” where Mobilex offers
substantial discounts to nursing homes for itayservices covered lilge nursing homes’ per
diem, per-patient Medicare Part A reimbursera@ntexchange for patient referrals of the
nursing homes’ other Medicare and Medicaid service needs, for which Mobilex can bill publicly-
funded insurance programs dirgctlPlaintiff alleges that thigractice constitutes the payment of
illegal kickbacks under the federal Anti-Kickback statse=42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b, and the
claims for reimbursement submitted by MobileXederal Medicare or Medicaid programs
pursuant to such swapping arrangemeatsstitute false claims under the FCA.

Mobilex specializes in providing portable x-regrvices to in-patient facilities across the
United States. A large part of Mobilex’s business contracts with skilled nursing home
facilities (“SNFs”) to provide services to patisrcovered by Medicare Ra\, Medicare Part B
or both. Plaintiff, who has many years experienatie mobile x-ray industry and expertise in
portable x-ray services, was hired by Mobi@&O William Glynn in October 2005 to assist the
operations of Mobilex’s Midwest Regional Offibased in WorthingtorQhio. His position was
multi-faceted, and he had no specific job desaiptther than assisting Mr. Glynn as requested.

The federal Medicare Program, establishetl965 by Title XVIII of the Social Security
Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396t seq. consists of two parts: Medi@Part A, which authorizes the
payment of federal funds for hasgization and post-hgstalization care; antedicare Part B,
which authorizes federal funding for medical anteothealth servicesMedicare Part B also
provides funding for certain services furnishednmatients who are either not entitled to
benefits under Part A, or who have exhausted tPart A benefits budre entitled to benefits

under Part B.

! Mobilex, in fact, is the layest single portable x-ray provider in the country, accounting for more than fifty percent
(50%) of the portable x-rays billed under both Medicare Parts A and B.
_2-



As provided in the Social Security Athe Secretary of Health and Human Services
administers the Medicare Program through €enfor Medicare and Medicaid Services
(“CMS”). Medicare enters into provider agreemis with health care providers and suppliers to
establish the facilities’ eligibility to participate the Medicare Program. In order to be eligible
for payment under the Medicare program, proviées suppliers must certify in these provider
agreements that they understand payments of claims are conditioned on the claims and the
underlying transactions complying with applicalaess, regulations and program instructions,
including the Anti-Kickback sttute and the Stark laws, 42 U.S.C. 8 1395nn. Mobilex, as a
supplier of services under Medicaesnd the SNFs must enter irsioch provider agreements to
receive Medicare reimbursemt for their services.

The Balanced Budget Act of 1997 changed SNF reimbursement for patients covered
under Medicare Part A to prospective paynsstem (“PPS”). Under PPS, SNFs are paid a
fixed per diemamount for each Medicare Part A patientjahhcovers the routine, ancillary, and
capital-related costs associateith that patient’s stay. Theer diem amount disbursed depends
on the severity of the patient’s conditionndér the Medicare Program, CMS makes payments
retrospectively (after the servicaee rendered) to hospitals fapatient services. To receive
payment, an SNF must submit claims for its Part A patients to its fiscal intermediaries. Each
SNF’s Part A per diem includes the facility’sst® for diagnostic radiofjy services performed
for Part A inpatients. Thus, for mobile x-ray sees furnished to Part A patients, the SNF pays
the supplier for the services, and then BMisdicare for the servicat the Part A rate.

For patients covered under Medicare Part ApbNéx bills SNFs for the services it
provides and the SNFs pay Mobilex for theswises. In turn, SNFs submit claims for

payments to Medicare. For patients covareder Medicare Part A, SNFs are reimbursed by
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Medicare at a per diem rate. Services praviibe patients covered und®ledicare Part B are
also reimbursed at the Medicakowable rate, hower, Mobilex bills Medcare directly for
these services. CMS sets the maximum allde/amounts for covered Part B services through
the Medicare Fee Schedule (“MFS”). Polgak-ray services submitted under Part B are
reimbursed under the MFS.

At the end of each year, SNFs submit anwcoat reports to CMS detailing the expenses
and revenues for its facility along with the patient activity. This annual cost report constitutes
the final accounting of the facility’s federalggram reimbursement. These reports are used by
Medicare to determine whether a providegmsitled to more reimbursement than already
received through interim paymermaswhether the provider hasdyeoverpaid. Medicare relies
upon the cost report to determine whether the pesvalentitled to more reimbursement than
already received through interim payments, oethibr the provider has been overpaid and must
reimburse Medicare.

B. Allegations of Fraud

In his Amended Complaint, &htiff alleges that Mobilexs involved in a fraudulent
scheme in which Mobilex offers substantial disots to SNFs for x-ray services covered by the
SNFs’ per diem, per-patient Medicare or Mzdd reimbursements in exchange for patient
referrals for which Mobilex can bill public insur@programs directly. T$practice, referred
to in the health care industry as a “swapmngngement,” constitutes the payment of kickbacks
in violation of the Anti-Kickback statuteand claims to Medicare or Medicaid programs

resulting from such arrangements therefoonstitute false claims under the FCA.

2 The Anti-Kickback Statute provides that:

Whoever knowingly and willfully solicits orexceives [or offers or pays] any remuneration
(including any kickback, bribe or rebate) directly, or indirectly, overtly, or covertly, in cash or i
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In addition to signing a Medicare provideregment, which certifies to the government
that the signatory health careopider or supplier agrees to abitly the Anti-Kickback laws and
the Stark laws, Mobilex entered into a Corporate Integrity Agreement (“CIA”) with the
Department of Health and Human Services éuspr General, which s conditioned further
participation by Mobilex in the federal health care programs on compliance with the terms of the
CIA. The CIA required Mobilexinter alia, to establish a Compliae Program ensuring that it
complied with all applicable statuteggulations, policies, and the CIA.

Plaintiff claims that in this case, portableay services for Part B residents were billed
by the supplier, Mobilex, to CMS. SNF providers serviced by Mobilex paid and continue to pay
Mobilex for services provided to patients withrPA& coverage at a rasubstantially below the
MFS allowance. In some cases, Mobilex doesemquire SNF's to pay anying at all for Part A
portable x-ray services. Mobilex solicits arat@pts reduced rates for Rart A portable x-ray
services as quid pro qudor becoming the exclusive providef portable x-ray services to all
patients of the SNF, including the Part B residents.

Plaintiff claims that, in addition to steepdounting of rates relatdo Part A patients,
Mobilex regularly chose simply not to collats accounts receivabledim the nursing homes,
effectively providing its service®r free. Plaintiff claimghat Mobilex’s accounting, record-
keeping, and collection practices related to itstanding billed collectiles from SNFs suggests

that in many cases Mobilex did not expecbéopaid for Part A portable x-ray services.

kind . . . in return for referring an individual &éoperson for the furnishing or arranging for the
furnishing of any item or service for which payment may be made in whole or in part under a
Federal health care program . . . shall be guiltg fflony and upon conviction thereof, shall be
fined not more than $ 25,000 or imprisoned for not more than five years, or both.

42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A) & 2(A)
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Mobilex’s lack of accurate record-keeping oged at least between 2004 and 2007, and Relator
believes it continues to the present.

In exchange for the reduced rates fort Pawork, the nursing homes serviced by
Mobilex refer all of their non-Part A work to Mddex. For the non-Part A work, Mobilex is able
to bill the full Medicare allowable rate directly the federal and state healthcare programs.

The Amended Complaint states that since agtl@002, Mobilex’s contragfor the performance
of portable x-rays have not reflected a dis¢ounstead, the discounts offered by Mobilex are
recorded on a separate document called the Facility Data Sheet.

Plaintiff alleges that the requirements jpooviding discounts to providers in the Anti-
Kickback Act were not followed here. Thesdounts provided by Mobie Plaintiff contends,
constitute illegal “remuneratiords that term is used in the Anti-Kickback statute. These
discounted rates are below fair market value amier a benefit on the SNFs that is intended to
account for the volume or value of federallyzfled business referred, in turn, to Mobilex.
Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that Mobilex offeasd pays such remuneration in exchange for
referrals for Part B portable imaging servicesisHtheme is referred to as “swapping,” because
Mobilex swaps cut-rate or free Part A portaibhaging services for lucrative exclusivity of
providing Part B patient services. Plaintifaichs this swapping scheme violates the FCA
because Mobilex knowingly submits false claims for Part B reimbursement to Medicare when
Mobilex falsely certifies that the clainecemply with the Anti-Kickback statute.

C. Alleged Retaliation by Mobilex

Plaintiff states that while employedMbbilex’s Midwest Regional Office, on multiple

occasions in 2005 and 2006 he notified Mob{IE&O Mr. Glynn about the fraudulent scheme

alleged herein. At a meeting on March 8, 2G@afording to Plaintiff, Mr. Glynn reportedly
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admitted that Mobilex was offering rates to its clients that were not compliant with Medicare
rules and regulations. Plaiffitasked Mr. Glynn to stop offering discounted Part A rates or
expose the fraud. Mr. Glynn reportedly declinedamply with either of Plaintiff's requests,
and instructed Plaintiff not to take any such actioinsself. Plaintiff clams that he alerted other
officers and managers of Mobilex to the illegeactice of the swapping scheme. They, too,
acknowledged the allegedly fraudat practices but refusedtike actions to stop them.
Plaintiff claims he was unlawfully terminated Mpbilex in September 2006 out of retaliation of
his efforts, after confrontg Mobilex officers about the swapping arrangement scheme.

The Amended Complaint contains nine causexctbn: Count | alleges violations of the
FCA for knowingly presenting false claims to the United States for services rendered to patients
unlawfully referred to Mobilex in exchange fkickbacks; Count Il alleges unlawful retaliation
under 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h) for Mobilex’s termtioa of Plaintiff for his reporting fraudulent
activity; and Counts Il through IX allege violationgstate anti-fraud statutes for Defendant’s
actions in lllinois, Massachusetts, Virgindew York, Texas, Michigan, and Georgia,
respectively. Neither the United States, any state government has intervened or filed
statements of interest regarding the case.

[ll. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Plaintiff's Amended Complaint shaubnly be dismissed under Fed. R. Civ. P
12(b)(6) if it “fail[s] to state a claim upon which relief che granted.” Generally, a complaint
must merely contain a “short and plain statememh@fclaim showing that the pleader is entitled
to relief.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). The distrcourt, in turn, “must read all well-pleaded
allegations of the complaint as truéffeiner v. Klais and Co., Incl108 F.3d 86, 88 (6th Cir.

1997). This “tenet is inapplicébto legal conclusions, or lelgaonclusions couched as factual
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allegations.” McCormick v. Miami Uniy.No. 1:10-cv-345, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 48467, at
*10 (S.D. Ohio May 5, 2011) (citingshcroft v. Igbal129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949-50 (2009)). The
plaintiff's ground for relief muséntail more than “a formulai@citation of the elements” of a
cause of actionBell Atlantic Corp. v. TwombJy650 U.S. 544, 555 (2007).

A well-pleaded complaint must “give the defendant fair notice of what the claim is, and
the grounds upon which it restsNader v. Blackwe]l545 F.3d 459, 470 (6th Cir. 2008). The
plaintiff must plead “enough facte state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”
Twombly 550 U.S. at 570. To “survive a motion to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), the
‘complaint must contain eithelirect or inferential allegations respecting all the material
elements to sustain a recovery unsieme viable legal theory.’"Noble v. Genco I, IncNo.
2:10-cv-648, 2010 WL 5541046, at *2.[5 Ohio Dec. 30, 2010) (quotirscheid vFanny
Farmer Candy Shops, In859 F.2d 434, 436 (6th Cir. 1988)). Finally, the complaint must be
construed in a light most favorable t@ tharty opposing the motion to dismi€3avis H. Elliot
Co. v. Caribbean Utils. Co., Ltd513 F.2d 1176, 1182 (6th Cir. 1975).

In addition, Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) requires thatany complaint averring fraud or mistake,
the circumstances constituting fraud or mistakall be stated with particularityYuhasz v.
Brush Wellman, In¢c341 F.3d 559, 563 (6th Cir. 2003). Thieghtened pleading standard set
forth in Rule 9(b) applies to complasnalleging violations of the FCAd. The Sixth Circuit
has held that to satisfy Rudb), a plaintiff must at a mimum “allege the time, place, and
content of the alleged misrepressidn” as well as “the fraudulestheme; the fraudulent intent
of the defendants; and the injuresulting from the fraud.’Bennett v. MIS Corp607 F.3d 1076,

1100 (6th Cir. 2010) (internal citations omitted.complaint’s failure to comply Rule 9(b)’s



pleading requirements is treated as a faitarstate a claim under Rule 12(b)(&)nited States

ex rel. Howard v. Lockheed Martin Corg99 F. Supp. 2d 972, 976 (S.D. Ohio 2007).

V. LAW AND ANALYSIS
A. Sufficiency of Plaintiff's Fraud Allegations
1. Alleged Remuneration

Mobilex first moves the Court to dismiBaintiff's Amended Complaint pursuant to
Rule 12(b)(6) for failure adequately to stateairlof violations of the FCA. Specifically,
Mobilex contends that Plaintiff's Complaint fatls allege sufficient deiis of “remuneration”
received by Mobilex under the alleged swapmngeme, because Plaintiff provides no facts
establishing the fair market vawf mobile x-ray services. dbilex argues that Plaintiff's
allegations, even taken as traannot prove the alleged violatiookthe Anti-Kickback statute
and the Stark laws upon which his FCA claims are predicated.

The FCA'’s fraud and conspiracy provisigrsvide, in part, tat any person who:

(A) knowingly presents, or causes to beganted, a false or fraudulent claim for
payment or approval;

(B) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or
statement material to a false or fraudulent claim; [or]

(C) conspires to commit a violati of subparagraph (A), (B). . .
.. . Is liable to the United Sest Government for a civil penalty . . . .
See31 U.S.C. § 3729(a).
The Government has a statutory right torvgé@e and take over prosecution of an FCA
case. If it chooses not tas in this case, the FCAGui tamprovisions award successful relators

of fraud who proceed independently a reastaalmount of the proceeds or settlemddt.
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8 3730(d)(2)See United States ex rel.dRiv. Long Island Lighting Cp912 F.2d 13, 18 (2d Cir.
1990) (*‘The purpose of thgui tamprovisions of the False Claimgt is to encourage private
individuals who are aware ofdud being perpetrated against the Government to bring such
information forward.”) (quoting H.RRep. No. 99-660, at 22 (1986)).

As stated above, the Anti-Kickback sii@ prohibits Mobil& from offering “any
remuneration, (including any kickblg bribe or rebate)” in returfor “in return for referring an
individual for . . . service for which payment ynlae made in whole or in part under a Federal
health care program.” 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(l¢)L This Court has interpreted the meaning
of “remuneration” broadly as “anything of valueany form whatsoever,” reasoning that “[t]he
Anti-Kickback Statute uses the term ‘any remmaien,” which suggests an expansive reading of
the form of any kickback directly ondlirectly, as opposed to a narrow reading.S. ex. Rel.

Fry v. The Health Alliance of Greater Cincinnatio. 1:03-CV-001672008, U.S. Dist. LEXIS
102411, at *20 (S.D. Ohio Dec. 18, 2008). If Mokifalsely certifies its compliance with the
Anti-Kickback statute in its Medare reimbursement claims aragports, as Plaintiff alleges,
Mobilex’s claims violate the FCASee idat *12 (“A false certification of compliance with the
Anti-Kickback Statute and StaStatute in a Medicare castport is actionable under the
FCA.").2

The Amended Complaint alleges thaturtherance of the Medicare fraud scheme,
Mobilex bills the SNFs for its portable x-ray sees at rates below market value, and at times
even below Mobilex’s costs for the services. G 67, 71. Mobilex does this in exchange for

securing exclusive referrals of the SNFs’ Medidaaet B and Medicaid piant care services.

% The Stark Statute makes illegal certain physician mifeto facilities with which the physician has a financial
relationship. 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1395nn. Its provisions define a financial relationship as an gwoenshestment
interest in the entity by the physician or an immediate family member of such physician, or as a compensation
arrangement between any such persons. 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1395nn(B)(22008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS, at *15.
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Id. 191 56, 68. Mobilex argues that Plaintiff's faildoeallege either what the fair market value
was for these services, the amount actuallyggtaby Mobilex during the same time period, or
the difference between the two, is fatathe Complaint’s success becagsetamactions must
plead facts establishing the famarket value of the goods or siees in question and the actual
prices charged by the alleged wrongdoklobilex claims that Platiff's failure to include what
the fair market value was for any of the relevgatvices during the relevant time periods renders
the Amended Complaint “ripe for dismissal.” (D&0, at 7.) Mobilex, howeer, fails to provide
adequate support this charactation of existing precedent.

First,in Woods the plaintiff's failure to identify té fair market value of the goods and
services provided was but one of a laundry ligdeficiencies contributing to its dismiss&ee
U.S. ex rel. Woods v. Norfirkansas Reg’l Med. Centado. 03-3086, 2006 WL 2583662, at *3
(W.D. Ark. 2006).* And inU.S. v. Center for Diagnostic Imaginigc., the plaintiffs “failed to
allege that the discounted services were offéretess than fair market value” altogether. 787
F.Supp.2d 1213, 1223 (W.D. Wash. 2011) (adding thabf[n&ve [plaintiffs] alleged that the
discounted prices were not commerciapsonable”). These casa® unlike the casaib
judice, in which Plaintiff repeatedly alleges thabbllex’s x-ray services were offered not just

below fair market value, but even belowstor for no charge at all. FAC 11 67, 71.

* In Woods the amended complaint failed to identify any of the following:

(2) the particular individuals whare alleged to have made thexision to provide office space,
staff, etc., to [the doctor] for less than fair netrialue; (2) what the fiamarket value of these
goods and services actually was and what [tlitodpwas charged; (3) the names of any of the
patients [the doctor] allegedly referred to [the medical center] in exchange for the pro¥ision o
office space, staff, etc., at labmn fair market value; (4) whwas involved in submitting the
fraudulent claims and cost reports; (5) whatabetent was of the fraudulent claims and cost
reports; (6) what monies were fraudulently obdgims a result of the alleged illegal arrangement;
or (7) how plaintiff learned of the alleged fraudulent claims and their submission for payment

-11-



Contrary to Mobilex’s contentions, Plaffidoes support his algations of Mobilex
undercharging SNFs for x-ray semgat below-market rates wipecific facts. The Complaint
provides, for example, that “in 2001, Mobilex’s adtaost to perform a ptable x-ray averaged
approximately $96.62. For MedicdPart A patients, Mobilex’per diemrate ranged from $0.45
to $1.00 per patient day and the flat feeged from $50.00 to $75.00 per exam.” FAC { 69.
While some additional explanation might haeeb helpful, these factual allegations on their
face suggest portable x-ray services being chambtbbilex’'s Medicare Parh clients at a rate
significantly below Mobilex’s “aaial costs” for those services.

The Amended Complaint also provides tthet 2006 Medicare Fee Schedule in Ohio,
“allowed $145.25 for a single-view chestay,” and by 2009 it “allowed $162.40 for a single
view chest x-ray.” FAC  70. While Mobilex takessue with the apprdpteness of comparing
2006 and 2009 Medicare Fee Schedules with Molsilegst and pricing da from 2001 instead
of 2006 and 2009, such scruples do not warrant dismissal of the complaint in the same way a
wholesale failure to allege below-rkat provision ofservices might.See, e.gCtr. for
Diagnostic Imaging787 F. Supp. 2d at 1223. At the pleadstage, prior to discovery, the
plaintiff cannot be expected to provide conteldetails of the nessary sensitive corporate
statistics to support his allegatis on issues of costs and prgeint is sufficient that the
Plaintiffs Amended Complaint alleges that Mietx provided its x-ray services to SNFs at
below-market and below-cost rates, and provgtese factual details wth, at least on their
face, support those allegatiorSee Twomb|\550 U.S. at 57(‘[W]e do not require heightened
fact pleading of specifics, but gnénough facts to state a claimrédief that is plausible on its

face.”).
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Mobilex claims that Plaintiff fails to allegbe times when Mobilex allegedly charged for
services below market value,which facilities in particular Mobilex provided services below
market value. This is simply not accuraker instance, the Amended Complaint states that
Mobilex has offered significant discounts to SNF# tre part of large @lm organizations if all
the chain’s facilities contract with Mobilex, “upanformation and belief, from 2004 to present.”
FAC 1 89. The Amended Complaint further spesithe timeframe for specific below-cost
discounts offered to specific SNFs, such &g 2006, Mobilex began providing services to the
Sava Senior chain of SNFs” for a “per bed rate of between ten cents and onpataliam a
below-cost rate.” FAC  87. Beles Sava Senior, Plaintiff m@s a number of other specific
SNFs, including specific facilgis, which have been offeredhdareceived, such discounts in
exchange for contracting exclusly with Mobilex for their Medicee Part B patients’ services.
FAC 11 89, 102, 106-07.

Mobilex insists that Plaintiff fails to firmly establish that Mobilex was charging less than
the fair market rate, or even less than thenadble rates under the Medicare Fee Schedule for
any given time period. The Amended Compldnayever, also includes detailed allegations of
Mobilex deciding not to pwue collection of its billables from its clierasall for its Part A
services. FAC 11 71, 94. For example, theeAded Complaint alleges that from 2005-2007,
Mobilex’s did not provide sufficient informatiadl allow its subcontraots to bill for their
services (such as Apex Radiology, which perfed readings for Mobilex from 2002 to 2007).
FAC 11 101-07. Whatever the precise market ragdntiave been for specific x-ray services at
any specific time, the Court is comfortable isw@a®ming it was higher tharero. Providing the x-

ray services for free would necessarily be praxgdhem at below market rates and below cost.
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This Court has determined that indireahtaeration schemes such as the one described
by Plaintiff, which involve offer®f discounted services in exchange for patient referrals, may
violate the Anti-Kickbak statute. IiJ.S. ex. rel. Fryon the issue of whether “remuneration”
was received under the Anti-Kicktlastatute, the Cotiruled that “compensation arrangements
that take into account the voluraevalue of referrals or business otherwise generated between
the parties” fall “within the scopef the statute.” 2008 U.S. &i LEXIS, at *22-23 (stating that
“the Anti-Kickback statute was amended to #lolel term ‘remuneration’ when investigations
showed kickbacks were taking the form of shamtals for office space, rebates equal to the
percentage of referral buss® outright gifts of carg,V’s, and prepaid vacations”).

Accordingly, Plaintiff's allegations are mothan “merely consistent with” Mobilex
having violated the Anti-Kickback statut&ee Igbal129 S. Ct. at 1949 (quotinigvombley 550
U.S. at 557). If accepted as true, Mobilex’s g#lé agreements with SNFs to provide free or
heavily discounted, below marketray services under MedicaRart A in exchange for
exclusive referrals for the SNFs’ Medicare Hadervices states aawm for relief from
violations of the Anti-Kickback statutend the FCA “that is plausible on its facdd. The
Court accordingly rejects Mobilex’s argument for dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6).

2. Allegations of Specific Fraudulent Claims

Mobilex also argues for dismissal of Plaitd Amended Complaihunder Rule 9(b),
which provides additional pleading requirertsin fraud cases such as th&eeYuhasz341
F.3d at 563. Mobilex’s chief complaint is tiihé Amended Complaint fails to allege facts of
any specific fraudulent claims presented for payr@the government imiolation of the FCA,
as required by Rule 9(b). Mobilex also arggeserally that Plainfi fails to provide enough

particulars of the alleged fraud to place Mobiten adequate notice ofdltlaims brought against
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it. Rule 9(b) requires that “[ijn alleging fraud miistake, a party must state with particularity the
circumstances constituting the fraud or mistaktalice, intent, knowledg, and other conditions
of a person’s mind may be alleged generally.” Rioke is in place to “alert defendants ‘as to the
particulars of their alleged sgonduct’ so that they may pEsd,” prevent unwarranted “fishing
expeditions,” “to protect defendahtreputations from allegatiorsd fraud,” and “and to narrow
potentially wide-ranging discowgto relevant matters.Chesbrough655 F.3d at 466 (internal
citations omitted).

Pleading fraud with particularity requiresttihe plaintiff allege: (1) “the time, place,
and content of the alleged misrepentation”; (2) “the frauduléscheme”; (3) the defendant’s
fraudulent intent; and (4) “thejury resulting from the fraud.'United States ex rel. Bledsoe v.
Cmty. Health Sys., In€:Bledsoe I1), 501 F.3d 493, 503 (6th Cir. 2007). The Sixth Circuit, in
Bledsoe 1] “held that, where a relatatleges a ‘complex and far-reaching fraudulent scheme,’ in
violation of 8 3729(a)(1), it is Bufficient to simply plead the Beme; he must also identify a
representative false claim that was actually submitted to the governn@esbrough655
F.3d at 470 (citindd. at 510-11) (internatitations omitted).

Relying onBledsodl, Mobilex argues that because Plaintiff's allegations fail to identify
any specific false claim submitted, the Amended Complaint must be dismissed. Mobilex alleges
that Plaintiff does not identify a year or rarafeyears when a specifadaim was made to the
Government. Plaintiff challenges Mobilex’s irgestation of the pleading standard under 9(b),
arguing that despitBledsoe I's holding,supra recent cases have disdited Mobilex’s position
that all FCA complaints must attach a speaifaaim that was submitted falsely. Plaintiff also

argues that despite the Amended Complainpnotiding a specific submitted false claim, the
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allegations strongly support the inference ttlaims for Part B service were submitted by
Mobilex pursuant to swapping agreements, which were therefore false claims.

Plaintiff is correct in arguing that the resement that “particularized allegations of an
actual false claim . . . must beegjfically pled if a complaint is to survive Rule 9(b) scrutiny”
has been somewhat lessened sBleelsoe 1l Bledsoe 1) 501 F.3d at 505. The Sixth Circuit’s
most recent pronouncement on the issuehiasbrougtiempered the strict holding froBiedsoe
Il with the following:

[T]he requirement that a relator identdy actual false claim may be relaxed

when, even though the relator is unableroduce an actual billing or invoice, he

or she has pled facts which support a strong inference that a claim was submitted.

Such an inference may arise when the relator has “personal knowledge that the

claims were submitted by Defendants . . . for payment.”

Chesbrough655 F.3d at 471 (quotirdnited States ex rel. Lane v. Murfreesboro Dermatology
Clinic, PLC, No. 4:07-cv-4, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 46847, at *5 (E.D. Tenn. May 12, 2010)).

This Court is of the opinion that, unlike the plaintiffsdhesbroughtself, the Plaintiff's
Amended Complaint here warrants just such aielg” of the specific claim requirement. The
Amended Complaint contains well-pleaded particularities dri@m Plaintiffs’ personal
experience that, collectively, support a strorfgrence that Mobilex submitted claims pursuant
to the swapping scheme that Plaintiff allegend thus, would have been fraudulesee idat
467 (“When a claim expressly statbéat it complies with a partigar statute, regulation, or
contractual term that is a prerequisite for pagpmfailure to actually comply would render the
claim fraudulent.”). While no specific claim isantified, specific representative examples of the

swapping scheme at issue are identified, andisnctise that is enough satisfy the particularity

requirements of Rule 9(b).
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Plaintiff alleges specific conversatiowgh Mobilex’s CEO in which Mr. Glynn
acknowledged that Mobilex performed Medic&at A work, FAC § 76, and on January 19,
2006, and March 8, 2006, Glynn referenced “per dpagyments” received from Part A patients.
FAC 1 86-87. Mr. Glynn and others at Mobilex allegedly admitted to charging SNFs non-
Medicare compliant rates. Plaih&lso provides, in an attachment to the Amended Complaint,
an alleged list of a sample of the SNFsvitwich Mobilex was providing both Medicare Part A
and Part B services, pursuant to fraudutemapping arrangements. FAC 1 106-107. The
nature of the fraud alleged does not lend itseifientifying specific claims, as Plaintiff is
arguing that the remuneration héngolves agreements to sendbllex referrals which Mobilex
then bills at a compliant rate. Thus, no paitac claim for reimbursement would itself be
indicative of the fraud, but rathédre agreement pursuant to whible services within the claim
were rendered.

As a “representative example[] ofi@ defendants’] alleged fraudulent condisse
Bledsoe 1) 501 F.3d at 510, the Amended Complaint provigesr alia, the alleged agreement
between the SNF chain Sava Semind Mobilex. Plaintiff allges that Mobilex began providing
services for Sava Senior in 20@6at Mobilex’s rates offered wome Sava Senior facilities was
below-cost; and that Mobilex’s natial vice president, Robin Reichert, stated that the rate would
need to stay there or else Mobilex woukkriosing Sava Senior’s business—presumably
referring to the referrals Mobilex receivederchange for the low rates. FAC  88. Accepting
these allegations as true, as the Court nsest,Weinerl08 F.3d at 88, raises a high probability
that Mobilex submitted claims for reimbursementhe government for Medicare services

provided pursuant to the swapgischeme described in Plaif's Amended Complaint.
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Plaintiffs Amended Complaint is distingiable from the Chesbrough’s because of the
Mobilex and the SNFs with which it contracteassly certify that the submitted claims for
reimbursement are not fraudulent. The majdurfa of the Chesbrough’s complaint of fraud was
its inability to identify when or where the ajledly deficient providers had certified that their
services would comply with a higher standake Chesbrougie55 F.3d at 468 (“Although the
Chesbroughs allege that VPA faileximeet ‘objective standardigr testing, they do not allege
that VPA was expressly requireddomply with those standards agprerequisite to payment of
claims.”) On the contrary, here Plaintiff agsehat Mobilex certifid, to the government, its
compliance not just with the Anti-Kickbackastite and Stark laws, batso the Corporate
Integrity Agreement. FAC 11 28, 59-61. Ptdiralleges that undethese certifications,
compliance with the Anti-Kickback statute aoither applicable lawand regulations “was
required to obtain payment” from the government. Thuagbills or claims submitted to the
government thereafter, such as those refereimcEghibit 1 to the Amended Complaint, would
be fraudulent if Mobilex offered SNFs discounteart A services iexchange for Part B
referrals, as alleged.

Finally, Mobilex broadly argigethat Plaintiff's Amended Complaint fails adequately to
identify the “who, what, when, where, and Hawquirements of a successful complaint for
violations of the FCA.See, e.g., DiLeo v. Ernst & Yoyrg1 F.2d 624, 627 (7th Cir. 1990)
(holding, as many courts haveattiparticularity” under Rule 9(b) “means the who, what, when,
where, and how: the first paragraph of any newspatory”). Looking backt the Sava Senior
example, however, Plaintiff easily meets jplisading burden with respect to those common
factors of particularity. Platiff provides representative amples of which SNFs were

involved; the nature of the swapping schemeluding even the degree of the discounted
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Mobilex provided; and the range of years, “2@04he present,” during which Mobilex and large
SNFs like Sava Senior have engaged in the swapping scheme. The alleged swapping scheme is
set forth in detail, and the Amended Complaint names multiple Mobilex officers, including the
CEO, who explicitly acknowledged, and then agfed from addressing, the fraud. For these
reasons, Plaintiff's Amended Complaint complgth Rule 9(b)’s requirements for pleading
fraud under the FCA.
B. Plaintiff's Retaliation Claim

Plaintiff alleges that Mobilex retaliatedaigst him by terminating him because of his
actions taken in furtherance of bringing thesenttaof fraud against itn violation of Section
3730(h) of the FCA> Mobilex attacks Plaintiff's unlawfuetaliation claim on three grounds.
First, Mobilex argues that because the Amer@enhplaint fails to identify a plausible FCA
violation, Plaintiff's claim for unlawful terminain must fail as well beause Plaintiff cannot
show involvement in a protected activity. Sedgntobilex argues that Rintiff fails to allege
sufficient facts to prove that Plaintiff plac&tbbilex on notice that he was pursuing an FCA
action, which is a necessary element for his ufibretaliation claim. Third, Mobilex claims
that the unlawful retaliation cliai should be dismissed because tloncerns Plaintiff brought to
Mobilex CEO Mr. Glynn’s attention were partlois duties in his position at Mobilex, and
complaints for retaliation must be dismisserhifing concerns was pait the relator’s job

description.

® Section 3730 provides, in relevant part, that:

“[alny employee [who] . . . is discharged, demoted, suspended, threatened, harassed, or in any
other manner discriminated against in the terms and conditions of employment because of lawful
acts done by the employee . . . in furtherance of an action under this section or other efforts to stop
1 or more violations of this bghapter [shall] be entitled tdl gelief necessary to make that

employee . . . whole.”

31 U.S.C. § 3730(h)(1).
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Section 3730(h) protectpii tam“whistleblowers” who pursuer investigate fraudulent
activity of their employers from retaliatiorsee McKenzie v. BellSouth Telecomms., 2i®
F.3d 508, 513 (6th Cir. 2000). For a plaintiffestablish that he was retaliated against in
violation of Section 3730(h), he must prove: lig)was engaged in a peoted activity; (2) the
employer knew about the protected activity; &)dthe employer must have discharged or
otherwise discriminated against the alleged wéidtiwer as a result of the protected actifity.
Georgandellis v. Holzer Clinic, IncNo. 08-cv-626, 2009 WL 1585772, at *7 (S.D. Ohio June 5,
2009) (citingMcKenzie 219 F.3d at 514).

Mobilex’s first argument for dismissal of the Plaintiff's retaliation claim fails. As
determined above, Plaintiff has alleged sufficicts to support a claim for violations of the
FCA on the part of Mobilex, and even if hedhaot successfully pled an FCA violation under
Section 3729, it would not necessarily invalidaite claim for retalifon under Section 3730.

See Georgandellj2009 WL 1585772, at *IJnited States ex rel. Ramseyer v. Century
Healthcare Corp.90 F.3d 1514, 1522 (10th Cir. 1996) (“Theecéan is clear tht a retaliation
claim can be maintained even if no FCA aatis ultimately successful or even filed.”).

Mobilex challenges the sufficiency of the Amended Complaint’s allegations regarding
the second, “notice” element for establishingliation under SectioB730(h), arguing that
Plaintiff fails to show that he had adequatelgced Mobilex on notice of his FCA investigation.
The Sixth Circuit has stated that “[w]hen sewkiegal redress for retalay discharge under the
FCA, plaintiff has the burden of pleading faatsich would demonstrate that defendants had

been put on notice that plaifh was either taking actiom furtherance of a privatgui tamaction

¢ “protected activity’ means ‘lawful actione by the employee on behalf of the employee or others in furtherance
of an [FCA] action, including investigation for, initiation téstimony for, or assistance in an [FCA] action filed or
to be filed . . . .”” United States ex rel. Marlar v. BWXT Y-12, L.|.%25 F.3d 439, 449 (6th Cir. 2007) (citing 31
U.S.C. § 3730(h)).
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or assisting in an FCA action brought by the governmeviuhasz341 F.3d at 568 (quoting
Ramseyer90 F.3d at 1522).

In his Amended ComplainBlaintiff states that he psonally notified Mr. Glynn and
others at Mobilex on numerous occasiontheffraud scheme. FAC 19 86-87. Crucially,
however, nowhere does Plaintiffegge that he notified Mr. Glynmr anyone else at Mobilex, of
his intent to investigate ¢éhfraud himself, much lessatbhe was contemplatinggai tamaction
or assisting in furthering aaction under the FCA against Mobilex. Rather, the Complaint
merely states that after questioning Mr. Glyamd the others about Mobilex’s fraudulent
practices, and asking Mr. Glynnéapose the fraud, he was let dd.

Alleged whistleblowers bringing complaintsfodud to their employer “must make clear
their intentions of bringing or assisting in BEA action in order to overcome the presumption
that they are merely acting in accordarwith their employmnt obligations.” Yuhasz341 F.3d
at 568 (quotindRamseyer90 F.3d at 1523 n. 7). Plaintiffrhself acknowledges in his briefing
that to successfully state gakation claim under Section 373()(he must “allege that his
activities have given defendants reason feetse he was contemgting filing a qui tam
complaint.” (Dkt. 44, at 33.) Simply insisting kdobilex that it should cease certain activities
which Plaintiff believed to be fraudulent does resten when interpreting the standard broadly,
constitute reasonable notice t@ leimployer that he intended to pursue legal action to end the
fraud. SeeMarlar, 525 F.3d at 449 (stating that plaih‘repeatedly ‘object[ing] to her
superiors’ about the inaccurate diwal records” withoutmore “likely do not suffice to show that
BWXT was on notice of Ms. Méar’s protected activity”).

Based on the Plaintiff's own pleadings,riever indicated any fantions to pursue

investigation of the fraud, repdtte fraud, or otherwise take amtior assist the government in
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prosecuting the fraud under the FCA. Therefasea matter of law, his claim for unlawful
retaliation under the FCA must fail.
V. CONCLUSION
Defendant’s Motion to DismidRelator's Amended Complaint GRANTED with
respect to Plaintiff's claim for unlawful reétation under the FCA. @unt Il of the Amended
Complaint is, accordinghRISMISSED. Defendant’'s Motion iIDENIED with respect to

Plaintiff's remaining claims foviolations of the FCA and similatate law anti-fraud statutes.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

s/Algenon L. Marbley
Algenon L. Marbley

DATED: February 27, 2011
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